**RECEIVED**

**Apr 10 2025**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Lexington County

Honorable Debra R. McCaslin, Circuit Court Judge

---

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

JASON JAVIER OTERO,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2023-001574

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

JOANNA K. DELANY  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

### I.

Whether the court erred in admitting expert testimony on delayed disclosure that mirrored the allegations in this case, where the State may not use experts to bolster a minor's testimony, since the evidence impermissibly conveyed to the jury that Minor was credible because her characteristics mirrored the content of the expert's testimony?

### II.

Whether the court erred in admitting evidence that Appellant allegedly attempted to escape from jail, where Appellant was not on trial for attempted escape, and where:

- a. The evidence did not have the tendency to make the existence of any fact of consequence more probable or less probable than it would have been without the evidence, since the evidence should have been excluded pursuant to Rules 401 and 402, SCRE?
- b. The probative value of the evidence was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, since the evidence should have been excluded pursuant to Rule 403, SCRE?

### III.

Whether the court erred in admitting evidence regarding a "photo vault" application on Appellant's telephone (i.e., hidden or encrypted data that law enforcement was never able to access), where the probative value of the evidence was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, since the evidence should have been excluded pursuant to Rule 403, SCRE?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 12, 2021, a Lexington County Grand Jury indicted Jason Otero, Appellant, for third-degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor, two counts of disseminating harmful material to a minor, and obstruction of justice. R. 816 – 827. Appellant was also charged with an additional count of third-degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor, and with first-degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor. R. 792, l. 16 – 793, l. 10. Appellant was tried before the Honorable Debra R. McCaslin and a jury, from September 18 – 22, 2023. James Snell and Bradley Kirkland represented Appellant. Rhonda Patterson and Ashley Wellman prosecuted the case. R. 1.

Appellant was acquitted of first-degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor and one count of third-degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor. He was convicted of the remaining offenses, and he was sentenced to serve concurrent terms of imprisonment of fifteen years for third-degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor, and ten years for disseminating harmful material to a minor (2021-GS-32-2082); and to serve consecutive terms of imprisonment of ten years for the second count of disseminating harmful material to a minor (2021-GS-32-2081), and five years for obstruction of justice. R. 792, l. 16 – 793, l. 10; R. 813, l. 17 – 814, l. 4; R. 828 – 835.

This appeal follows.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review for all the issues is abuse of discretion.

“The admission of evidence is within the discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion.” *State v. Hatcher*, 392 S.C. 86, 91, 708 S.E.2d 750, 753 (2011) (quoting *State v. Pagan*, 369 S.C. 201, 208, 631 S.E.2d 262, 265 (2006)). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.” *Id.*; see also *State v. Brockmeyer*, 406 S.C. 324, 340, 751 S.E.2d 645, 653 (2013).

“A trial court has particularly wide discretion in ruling on Rule 403 objections.” *State v. Lee*, 399 S.C. 521, 527, 732 S.E.2d 225, 228 (Ct. App. 2012); see also *State v. Dial*, 405 S.C. 247, 260, 746 S.E.2d 495, 502 (Ct. App. 2013) (“A trial judge’s decision regarding the comparative probative value and prejudicial effect of relevant evidence should be reversed only in exceptional circumstances.” (citation omitted)).

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

As the prosecutor would note in opening statements, this was a “disturbing case.” R. 159, ll. 21-22. The State alleged that Appellant sexually abused his six-year-old child, Minor. Minor “accidentally” disclosed the alleged abuse to a classmate, whose parent notified a school counselor. R. 160, ll. 15-21; R. 167, l. 23 – 170, l. 24. The counselor, a mandatory reporter of child abuse, spoke with Minor on May 3, 2021. Minor was initially “reluctant” to talk about the matter but eventually disclosed sexual abuse. Minor alleged the last time the abuse occurred the was prior day, while her mother was working. As a result of the conversation with Minor, the counselor contacted law enforcement and social services. R. 170, l. 17 – 173, l. 25; R. 179, l. 19 – 180, l. 21; R. 205, ll. 4-10.

Minor made more detailed allegations during a subsequent forensic interview. (The interview was State’s Exhibit #1 and is on file with this Court.) According to Minor, the abuse occurred more than once. Minor claimed Appellant performed oral sex on her, had her perform oral sex on him, and put a vibrating pink “toy” on her genitals, which caused her to wet the bed. According to Minor, Appellant cleaned up the urine with a “dog pad.” Minor stated during her forensic interview that Appellant did not take any photographs or videos of her. However, Minor claimed Appellant showed her pornographic videos and photographs on his telephone. Minor alleged one of the explicit videos was of Appellant using a sex toy on Minor’s mother. State’s Exhibit #1; R. 201, l. 1 – 219, l. 8; R. 342, ll. 3-10.

On May 3, 2021, immediately after the disclosure, Minor and her mother left the home and went to stay with Minor’s grandparents. R. 186, l. 19 – 188, l. 15. Law enforcement executed a search warrant at Appellant’s home that day and seized Appellant’s telephone and a hard drive from a desktop computer. R. 332, l. 2 – 334, l. 22; R. 433, ll. 4-14. Officer Creech

did a “manual preview” of Appellant’s phone and saw there was an email account, “a Google Gmail account, Jason J. Otero, that was associated with the defendant linked to the device.” Creech also noticed there was a passcode-protected “photo vault” application (app) which he could not access. According to Creech, the app had a large amount of data—over one and a half gigabytes—contained within it. Creech secured the telephone in his office, but he inadvertently forgot to place the phone in “airplane mode.” When Creech went to look at the phone again on May 5, 2021, it had been “reformatted” or remotely reset to factory settings. Therefore, no data could be recovered from the phone. (The remote reset of the telephone, after it had been taken into evidence by law enforcement, was the basis for Appellant’s obstruction of justice charge.) R. 335, l. 2 – 336, l. 6; R. 437, l. 4 – 453, l. 21; R. 826 – 827.

On May 14, 2021, Minor was interviewed at a children’s advocacy center. (Of note, throughout the case and during the forensic interview repeated mentions were made that the family had nineteen cats.) During the forensic interview, Minor disclosed more detailed allegations of abuse which prompted law enforcement to obtain an additional search warrant. State’s Exhibit #1; R. 342, l. 3-18. On May 17, 2021, law enforcement executed the second search warrant at Appellant’s home. R. 342, l. 3 – 343, l. 8. This time, they seized Appellant’s laptop computer. They also seized a shoebox containing a pink sex toy. They noticed bedding was missing from Minor’s bed, and they found a dog “pee pad” in the trash. R. 343, l. 9 – 350, l. 13; R. 394, l. 6 – 407, l. 15; R. 389, ll. 16-18. Appellant was arrested that day (May 17th). R. 476, ll. 15-20. On June 1, 2021, Minor had a medical exam at the child advocacy center, and the “medical exam was normal and no injuries were observed.” R. 293, ll. 13-23.

The desktop computer’s hard drive contained sexually explicit videos of Minor’s mother. R. 435, ll. 20 – 436, l. 20. The laptop computer’s internet search history contained incriminating

searches from May 3 – 17, 2021, such as: “wipe Android phone remotely,” “erase my device remotely,” “can FBI crack Photo Vault,” a “series of inquiries about passing polygraphs,” “Cheat polygraph,” “How to get child molestation case dismissed,” and “Bail cost for child sex abuse SC.” A 9:41 p.m. search on May 3, 2021, for “wipe Android phone remotely” corresponded with a 9:41 p.m. login to Appellant’s Google account. R. 453, l. 13 – 475, l. 9; R. 456, l. 18 – 457, l. 2.

Relevant to Issue I, the State proffered the testimony of Raymond Olszewski, a social worker and forensic interviewer who was qualified as a “blind” expert in child sexual abuse dynamics. R. 284, ll. 6-7; R. 287, ll. 2-11. Appellant objected to bolstering. He requested a ruling that the prosecutor not be able to provide, and Olszewski not be permitted to give, examples or hypotheticals which mirrored this case. Defense counsel stated his objection to having “him give any examples or hypotheticals . . . Anything that he comes up with if it matches any aspect of this case, however slight, it’s gonna be bolstering, so I’m just gonna ask for no examples. And I don’t believe it’s proper to give him hypotheticals[.]” R. 279, l. 21 – 280, l. 3. The State responded that any “match” of the facts to examples was “highly coincidental.” R. 280, ll. 12-14. The court ruled that the solicitor could not give Olszewski hypotheticals or examples but that the witness could give his own: “He can state his basis as to why cases sometimes have delayed disclosure. I’ll be happy to hear from him on that, okay?” R. 281, ll. 14-21.

Virtually the entirety of Olszewsky’s testimony about delayed disclosure mirrored the allegations in this case. For example:

- “It could be due to age. A child may be so young that they don’t full[y] understand what’s happened to them[.]” R. 287, ll. 10-22.

- “[T]hey may worry what’s going to happen to the family, are they gonna get taken away from the home[.]” R. 287, l. 24 – 288, l. 1.
- “They may have been told certain things are gonna happen in order to, you know, not tell.” R. 288, ll. 3-5.
- “[T]hey may worry that they are gonna be taken away from the home and placed in foster care.” R. 288, ll. 5-7.
- “[T]hey may worry they won’t see their siblings or their pets[.]” R. 288, ll. 7-8.
- “They may feel guilt about what’s happened, especially if it’s something that’s happened over a period of time.” R. 288, ll. 10-12.
- “[C]hildren sometimes care deeply about the offender or the person that’s harmed them and they may worry about getting that person in trouble or about losing the attention and affection of that person if they were to tell.” R. 288, ll. 14-17.
- “[O]ftentimes there’s a non-offending caregiver in the home, so the concern may be is that person going to believe me, are they going to support me when I come forward with this[.]” R. 289, ll. 19-22.
- The process of disclosure “oftentimes starts with a delay in reporting or even denials when initially asked about what’s happened, then they may move into a more partial or tentative phase of disclosure where they’re only telling part of it . . . and then children often will—you know, many of them move to a more active disclosure where they’re giving a more full accounting of what’s happened to them.” R. 288, l. 23 – 289, l. 11.
- “An accidental disclosure is a disclosure that is discovered by accident or chance[.]” R. 290, ll. 13-15.

- “Chronic abuse is abuse that’s occurred . . . many times over a period of time, whereas an acute event is an event that’s recent in time that just occurred or took place recently.” With chronic abuse, “it can be more difficult to remember details from any one particular incident unless maybe there was something unusual about one or more of the events or the incidents that makes it stand out for some reason in a child’s mind.” R. 290, l. 19 – 291, l. 9.

Relevant to Issue II, the State introduced evidence of an alleged attempted escape: that Appellant had damaged his jail cell while awaiting trial, and that he had a hand-drawn map of Mexico and a list of English words translated into Spanish in his jail cell. R. 477, l. 21 – 485, l. 24. (The State would use this evidence to argue in closing that Appellant was trying to “shawshank” his way out of jail.) R. 761, ll. 11-13. As seen, Appellant was arrested on May 17, 2021. The jail cell evidence was discovered on November 28, 2021. R. 476, l. 15 – 477, l. 25. Appellant objected to the alleged escape evidence on the bases of relevancy and Rule 403, SCRE. R. 479, ll. 20-24. The court ruled that the evidence was evidence of flight and had a “strong nexus to a guilty conscience.” R. 486, l. 14 – 487, l. 11; R. 480, ll. 19-23. The court did not place its Rule 403 analysis on the record. The evidence consisted of photographs and testimony that Appellant had an improvised digging tool hidden in his cell and had removed crumbling metal pieces from a vent and the frame of a four-inch-wide “narrow window.” The photographs included documentation of the damage to Appellant’s jail cell, the hand-drawn map of Mexico, and the list of Spanish and English words. (The photographs were State’s Exhibits #21; 29; 36; and 45 – 58; and they are on file with this Court.) R. 477, l. 21 – 485, l. 24; R. 491, l. 20 – 492, l. 4.

Appellant's cell was built to house one person but three people were housed in it together. Appellant subsequently testified he was simply trying to see and hear outside, and he was not attempting to escape. R. 503, l. 5 – 606, l. 7. Appellant had two Spanish-speaking cell mates. He stated the translations and map related to his roommate. R. 618, l. 18 – 624, l. 4.

Relevant to Issue III, the State introduced evidence, mentioned above, that Appellant's telephone had a "photo vault" app that contained hidden or encrypted data. Pretrial, the court heard a motion in limine on the matter. Appellant moved to suppress any reference to the existence of hidden or encrypted data on his electronic devices. R. 82, l. 25 – 91, l. 15. The State argued that after law enforcement seized Appellant's phone and told him they were going to search the phone and get into the "photo vault" app, Appellant "downloaded a PDF document called Breaking into the Vault, Privacy, Security and Forensic Analysis of Android Vault Applications," and then remotely wiped the phone. R. 84, l. 84, l. 4 – 87, l. 3. Appellant objected to the evidence based on Rule 403, SCRE, noting he would be unfairly prejudiced since the jury could only "speculat[e]" about the contents of the app: "the prejudicial value outweighs anything probative." Counsel noted that the minor was asked during the forensic interview whether Appellant took any pictures of her, and she said, "No." R. 87, l. 6 – 91, l. 1; R. 88, ll. 18-25; *see* State's Exhibit #1.

The prosecutor responded that although it did not intend to argue to the jury that Appellant had photographs of Minor being sexually abused in the "photo vault" app, "people can draw their own conclusions." R. 89, ll. 19-24. "We're saying there's an encrypted device [sic] on his phone that he frantically tried to erase before law enforcement could view it or search it as part of the investigation." R. 88, ll. 10-13. The solicitor argued the evidence was admissible to show a guilty mind. R. 88, ll. 1-5. The solicitor also argued that Minor stated during her

forensic interview that when Appellant showed her pornographic images, “there was a little app that showed a code.” R. 89, ll. 1-12.

The court ruled the evidence “could go to the obstruction of justice. Also the disseminating. We’ll let a jury decide. I find it to be more probative.” Officer Creech was permitted to testify about the “photo vault” app: “It suggested to me that the phone’s user had certain files they didn’t want other people to access or know were there.” R. 91, ll. 5-12; R. 440, ll. 22-24; R. 438, l. 14 – 439, l. 11; R. 438, l. 19 – 461, l. 12.

Appellant testified in his defense and he denied sexually abusing Minor or showing her pornography. R. 554, ll. 5-13. The jury deliberated for approximately five hours and asked a number of questions. As seen, it acquitted Appellant of two charges and convicted him of the remaining four. R. 782, l. 11 – 792, l. 8.

## ARGUMENT

### I.

**The court erred in admitting expert testimony on delayed disclosure that mirrored the allegations in this case, where the State may not use experts to bolster a minor’s testimony, since the evidence impermissibly conveyed to the jury that Minor was credible because her characteristics mirrored the content of the expert’s testimony.**

“The assessment of witness credibility is within the exclusive province of the jury.” *State v. Makins*, 433 S.C. 494, 501, 860 S.E.2d 666, 670 (2021) (quoting *State v. McKerley*, 397 S.C. 461, 464, 725 S.E.2d 139, 141 (Ct. App. 2012)). “A witness may not give testimony that improperly bolsters the credibility of the victim.” *Chappell v. State*, 429 S.C. 68, 75, 837 S.E.2d 496, 499 (Ct. App. 2019) (cleaned up). “[A] witness cannot bolster the credibility of another witness because doing so invades the province of the jury.” *Makins*, 433 S.C. at 502, 860 S.E.2d at 670-71 (citing *Briggs v. State*, 421 S.C. 316, 328, 806 S.E.2d 713, 719 (2017)). “Improper bolstering is testimony that indicates the witness believes the victim, but does not serve some other valid purpose. Improper bolstering also occurs when . . . there is no other way to interpret the testimony other than to mean the witness believes the victim is telling the truth.” *Chappell*, 429 S.C. at 75, 837 S.E.2d at 499–500 (cleaned up).

“[I]t is improper for a witness to testify as to his or her opinion about the credibility of a child victim in a sexual abuse matter.” *State v. Kromah*, 401 S.C. 340, 358–59, 737 S.E.2d 490, 500 (2013). “While experts may give an opinion, they are not permitted to offer an opinion as to the credibility of others.” *State v. Chavis*, 412 S.C. 101, 109, 771 S.E.2d 336, 340 (2015). The State may not present the testimony of a “human truth-detector” since such a witness’s “opinions of the truth are [not] valuable and suitable for the jury’s consumption.” *Id.*, 401 S.C. at 356, 737

S.E.2d at 498. *See also State v. Douglas*, 380 S.C. 499, 505, 671 S.E.2d 606, 610 (2009) (Pleicones, J., dissenting) (“Juries do not require the assistance of human ‘truth detectors’ in assessing the credibility of testimony.”).

“[A] forensic interviewer may not be permitted to give testimony that improperly bolsters the credibility of the victim.” *Briggs*, 421 S.C. at 323, 806 S.E.2d at 717 (citing *State v. Douglas*, *supra*). “[A] witness may not give an opinion for the purpose of conveying to the jury—directly or indirectly—that she believes the victim.” *Briggs*, 421 S.C. at 324, 806 S.E.2d at 717. A forensic interviewer should avoid the following kinds of statements at trial:

that the child was told to be truthful; a direct opinion as to a child’s veracity or tendency to tell the truth; **any statement that indirectly vouches for the child’s believability**, such as stating the interviewer has made a ‘compelling finding’ of abuse; any statement to indicate to a jury that the interviewer believes the child’s allegations in the current matter; or **an opinion that the child’s behavior indicated the child was telling the truth.**

*State v. Kromah*, 401 S.C. at 360, 737 S.E.2d at 500 (cleaned up) (emphasis added).

South Carolina’s appellate courts have ruled that the prosecution may permissibly use limited expert testimony about child sexual abuse dynamics.<sup>1</sup> *See State v. Jones*, 423 S.C. 631, 636, 817 S.E.2d 268, 271 (2018) (“behavioral characteristics of sex abuse victims is an area of specialized knowledge where expert testimony may be utilized”); *State v. Anderson*, 413 S.C. 212, 218, 776 S.E.2d 76, 79 (2015) (“Certainly we recognize that there is such an expertise: this is the type of expert who can, for example, testify to the behavioral characteristics of sex abuse victims.”); *State v. Brown*, 411 S.C. 332, 345, 768 S.E.2d 246, 253 (Ct. App. 2015), *overruled on other grounds by State v. Jones*, 423 S.C. at 638, 817 S.E.2d at 271 (expert testimony regarding

---

<sup>1</sup> However, the Supreme Court has explained: “This Court has struggled with the parameters for admitting the testimony of the State’s child sex abuse dynamics experts, and we will certainly continue to do so.” *State v. Galloway*, 443 S.C. 229, 242, 904 S.E.2d 866, 873 (2024) (footnote omitted).

the general behavioral characteristics of child sex abuse victims did not improperly bolster the minor victims' testimony).

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