RECEIVED

Apr 10 2025

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY
Court of General Sessions

Debra R. McCaslin, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2023-001574

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

JASON JAVIER OTERO,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

BRIAN H. GIBBS
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 104137

Office of the Attorney General
Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
Phone: 803-734-3727

S.R. HUBBARD, III
Solicitor, Eleventh Judicial Circuit

205 E. Main Street, Suite 309
Lexington, South Carolina 29072

Attorneys for Respondent

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

Because Olszewski never commented on the credibility of Victim but rather offered admissible expert testimony regarding general behavioral characteristics of child sex abuse victims, his testimony did not improperly bolster Victim's testimony. *See State v. Brown*, 411 S.C. 332, 345, 768 S.E.2d 246, 253 (Ct. App. 2015) ("Further, because [the independent expert] never commented on the credibility of the minor victims, but rather offered admissible expert testimony regarding behavioral characteristics of child sex abuse victims, we find such testimony did not bolster the minor victims' testimony.") *abrogated on other grounds by State v. Jones*, 423 S.C. 631, 817 S.E.2d 268 (2018).

Olszewski's testimony focused broadly on various reasons sex abuse victims may delay disclosure and how the disclosure process progresses generally. (R. 287-91). Merely because his testimony corroborated some of Victim's reasons for delaying disclosure of abuse does not mean his testimony improperly bolstered Victim's testimony. *See Brown*, 411 S.C. at 345, 768 S.E.2d at 253 ("The fact that [the independent expert's] testimony corroborated some of the minor victims' reasons for delaying disclosure of the abuse does not mean her testimony improperly bolstered their accounts."); *id.* (holding that the independent expert "merely offered reasons why children

might delay disclosing instances of sexual abuse to assist the trier of fact's understanding of the complex dynamics of child victims in sexual abuse cases."). Therefore, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting the expert testimony because the expert testimony was admissible evidence that did not constitute improper bolstering.

II. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting evidence of Appellant's attempted escape because the evidence was admissible as some evidence of consciousness of guilt and the State established a nexus between Appellant's attempted escape and the charges against him.

A. The attempted escape evidence was relevant as evidence of guilt and was properly admitted under Rules 401 and 402 of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence.

Rule 402 of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence provides a central tenant of evidence law, namely that "[a]ll relevant evidence is admissible" and "[e]vidence which is not relevant is not admissible." Rule 401 of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence defines relevant evidence as "evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence." Here, Sergeant Creech's testimony about Appellant's attempted escape from the county detention center indicated a consciousness of guilt, which made it relevant as evidence of guilt.

"As a general rule, any guilty act, conduct, or statements on the part of the accused are admissible as some evidence of consciousness of guilt." *State v. McDowell*, 266 S.C. 508, 515, 224 S.E.2d 889, 892 (1976). Both our Supreme Court and this Court have clarified that for such an act by a defendant to be relevant as "consciousness of guilt" under Rule 401, "there [must be] a nexus between the [conduct] and the offense charged." *State v. Pagan*, 369 S.C. 201, 209, 631 S.E.2d 262, 266 (2006) (citing *State v. Robinson*, 360 S.C. 187, 195, 600 S.E.2d 100, 104 (Ct. App. 2004)). In *State v. Cartwright*, our Supreme Court held there must be "an unmistakable nexus . . . by clear and convincing evidence linking the [defendant's conduct] to a guilty conscience derivative of the offense for which the defendant is on trial." 425 S.C. 81, 92, 819

S.E.2d 756, 762 (2018); *see also State v. Martin*, 403 S.C. 19, 28, 742 S.E.2d 42, 47 (Ct. App. 2013) (requiring "a nexus between the [conduct] and the offense charged"). In *State v. Middleton*, our Supreme Court held that its reasoning in *Pagen* and *Cartwright* transcend the facts of those cases and applies to "any case in which the State contends the defendant's guilty act or evasive conduct is relevant because it shows a consciousness of guilt." 441 S.C. 55, 61, 893 S.E.2d 279, 282 (2023); *see also Martin*, 403 S.C. at 28, 742 S.E.2d at 46 (stating "because flight is merely one form of evasive conduct, we find the . . . test used to determine the admissibility of flight evidence is equally useful in determining the admissibility of evidence of other types of evasive conduct").

In *Middleton*, our Supreme Court laid out three considerations for determining the admissibility of flight evidence, including (1) whether the defendant was "aware of an existing arrest warrant or indictment for his crimes"; (2) whether the defendant's "guilty act or evasive conduct was primarily some form of action"; (3) whether the chain of inferences leading from the evidence shows a guilty conscious derivative of the offense charged. *Middleton*, 441 S.C. at 63-64, 893 S.E.2d at 283.

Here, Appellant was in the county detention center awaiting trial for the indicted charges in this case. (R. 476). The evidence presented through photographs and Sergeant Creech's testimony show that Appellant removed a windowpane in his jail cell with a digging implement, which he stored in an air duct after removing the air vent. (R. 479-85; State's Ex. 45-58). There is evidence that some mortar between concrete cinderblocks in the jail cell was damaged. (State's Ex. 45, 47). Thus, Appellant's conduct was primarily a form of action. Further, Appellant had created a map of Mexico and had a list of simple Spanish phrases, which suggests that if he had managed to escape from the county detention center, he planned to find his way to Mexico.

(R. 485; State's Ex. 21, 29, 36). By his own admission, Appellant felt he had no hope or future in the United States. (R. 621).

By busting out his jail cell window, regardless of his ability to fit through the window, possessing a digging implement that he could have used to enlarge the window opening, and possessing documents suggesting that he would flee to Mexico if given the chance, the State demonstrated a nexus between Appellant's conduct in the jail cell and his consciousness of guilt for the indicted charges of this case. After all, "it is not to be supposed that one who is innocent and conscious of that fact would flee" or, in this case, attempt to escape from jail and flee to Mexico. *See Middleton*, 441 S.C. at 61, 893 S.E.2d at 282 (quoting *Martin*, 403 S.C. at 29, 742 S.E.2d at 47). Therefore, the photographs of Appellant's jail cell and Sergeant Creech's testimony about Appellant's attempted escape are relevant to show a consciousness of guilt. Thus, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in finding them relevant and admissible under Rules 401 and 402 of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence.

B. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting evidence of Appellant's attempted escape from jail because the probative value of the evidence—to assist the jury in understanding Appellant's consciousness of guilt—was not substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury under Rule 403 of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence.

"Although relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury" Rule 403, SCRE. "Unfair prejudice means an undue tendency to suggest decision on an improper basis." *State v. Wiles*, 383 S.C. 151, 158, 679 S.E.2d 172, 176 (2009). "[T]he determination of prejudice must be based on the entire record, and the result will generally turn on the facts of each case." *State v. Stokes*, 381 S.C. 390, 404, 673 S.E.2d 434, 441 (2009).

As previously discussed, evidence of Appellant's attempted escape from jail was relevant as evidence of consciousness of guilt. The evidence was not *unfairly* prejudicial because the photographs and testimony did not mention any prior bad acts or discuss anything more than was necessary to show that Appellant attempted to escape from the county detention center while awaiting trial on the charges in this case. *Cf. State v. Traylor*, 360 S.C. 74, 85 n.12, 600 S.E.2d 523, 528 n.12 (2004) (stating that the admission of mug shots can be reversible error if they imply a defendant committed prior bad acts). Thus, the probative value of the evidence in assisting the jury to understand Appellant's consciousness of guilt was not substantially outweighed by any danger of unfair prejudice to Appellant, and the trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting the evidence. *See State v. Collins*, 409 S.C. 524, 536, 763 S.E.2d 22, 28 (2014) ("[T]he standard is not simply whether the evidence is prejudicial; rather, the standard under Rule 403, SCRE is whether there is a danger of *unfair* prejudice that *substantially* outweighs the probative value of the evidence." (emphasis in original)).

C. Should this Court determine the evidence of Appellant's attempted escape was not relevant or that the probative value of the evidence was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, any such abuse of discretion by the trial court in admitting the evidence is harmless.

"Generally, appellate courts will not set aside convictions due to insubstantial errors not affecting the result." *State v. Pagan*, 369 S.C. 201, 212, 631 S.E.2d 262, 267 (2006). Where "guilt has been conclusively proven by competent evidence such that no other rational conclusion can be reached," an insubstantial error that does not affect the result of the trial is considered harmless. *Id.* A harmless error analysis is contextual and specific to the circumstances of the case: "No definite rule of law governs [a finding of harmless error]; rather the materiality and prejudicial character of the error must be determined from its relationship to the entire case. Error is harmless

when it could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial." *State v. Reeves*, 301 S.C. 191, 193–94, 391 S.E.2d 241, 243 (1990).

In this case, Victim's testimony and recorded investigative interview, physical evidence discovered at Appellant's residence, the video and photographic evidence discovered on several of Appellant's electronic devices, and Appellant's admission that he remotely reset his cellphone and destroyed evidence provide such substantial and competent evidence of Appellant's guilt for the charges upon which the jury found him guilty that no other rational conclusion can be reached. Therefore, if this Court determines that evidence of Appellant's attempted escape is not relevant or that the probative value of that evidence was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice such that the trial court abused its discretion in admitting the evidence, which the State disputes, then any such abuse of discretion was harmless because it did not affect the outcome of the trial.

III. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting evidence regarding the Photo Vault application on Appellant's cellphone because the probative value of the evidence—to assist the jury in understanding Victim's testimony from trial and her recorded investigative interview as well as Appellant's obstruction of justice charge—was not substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury under Rule 403 of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence.

The State has the right to prove every element of the crime charged. *State v. Johnson*, 338 S.C. 114, 122, 525 S.E.2d 519, 523 (2000). Here, evidence of the Photo Vault application on Appellant's phone was relevant to corroborate Victim's recorded investigative interview, where she stated that Appellant showed her explicit photos and videos of her mother in an application on Appellant's phone that needed its own passcode. (State's Ex. 1 at 10:40 to 11:10). It was also relevant because Appellant remotely reset his phone after it was seized by law enforcement. (R. 646). Because a person commits the offense of disseminating harmful material to a minor if they present a minor with "any material . . . that depicts sexually explicit nudity or sexual activity,"

the State had to show that Appellant showed Victim sexually explicit media as Victim alleged in her recorded investigative interview and in her testimony. S.C. Code Ann. §§ 16-15-375 & -385; *see State v. Shuler*, 353 S.C. 176, 184, 577 S.E.2d 438, 442 (2003) ("The relevance, materiality, and admissibility of evidence are matters within the sound discretion of the trial court and a ruling will be disturbed only upon a showing of an abuse of discretion.").

The trial court balanced the probative value of the Photo Vault testimony against its prejudicial effect, albeit briefly, and determined that the testimony was admissible despite the State not knowing what was contained in the application. (R. 90-91, 439). The trial court found that the evidence could go to both the disseminating of harmful material charges as well as to the obstruction of justice charge. (R. 91). *See State v. Martucci*, 380 S.C. 232, 250, 669 S.E.2d 598, 607 (Ct. App. 2008) ("A trial [court's] decision regarding the comparative probative value and prejudicial effect of relevant evidence should be reversed only in exceptional circumstances.").

Despite Appellant's claims at trial, and now on appeal, that testimony about the Photo Vault application would unfairly prejudice him because, according to him, the evidence would encourage the jury to speculate that Appellant had child pornography on his phone, this argument is entirely without merit. Appellant deleted the entire contents of his phone before law enforcement could extract any evidence from it; therefore, the only person who knew what was contained in the Photo Vault application was Appellant. (R. 646). Appellant and Victim both stated that Appellant did not take any photos of Victim. (R. 591; State's Ex. 1 at 14:15 to 14:40, 16:15 to 16:45, 18:00 to 18:30). While the jury would not have known what was contained in the Photo Vault application, its existence on Appellant's phone before he remotely reset the phone corroborates Victim's account of events from her recorded investigative interview and directly goes to show that Appellant obstructed justice by knowingly destroying relevant evidence.

Based on the entire record, the probative value of the Photo Vault testimony was not outweighed, much less substantially outweighed, by any prejudicial effect. *See State v. Gillian*, 373 S.C. 601, 609, 646 S.E.2d 872, 876 (2007) ("The determination of the prejudicial effect of the evidence must be based on the entire record and the result will generally turn on the facts of each case."); *State v. Wilson*, 345 S.C. 1, 7, 545 S.E.2d 827, 830 (2001) ("Evidence is unfairly prejudicial if it has an undue tendency to suggest a decision on an improper basis, such as an emotional one."). According to Appellant, both at trial and on appeal, his mere speculation that the jury might disregard both his and Victim's testimony that he did not have explicit photographs of Victim on his phone constituted unfair prejudice. It did not. The evidence at trial focused on Appellant showing Victim explicit media of *adults* on his phone and at no point did the evidence presented tend to suggest that Appellant had any other kind of explicit media on his phone. Therefore, the prejudicial effect to Appellant was minimal, and the probative value of the evidence was not substantially outweighed by this minimal prejudicial effect.

To the extent that this Court determines that the trial court abused its discretion in admitting the Photo Vault evidence, any such error is harmless because the evidence in the record does not support any rational conclusion other than Appellant's guilt. *See State v. Reyes*, 432 S.C. 394, 406, 853 S.E.2d 334, 340 (2020) ("Whether an error is harmless depends on the circumstances of the particular case. No definite rule of law governs this finding; rather, the materiality and prejudicial character of the error must be determined from its relationship to the entire case. Error is harmless when it 'could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial.'" (quoting *State v. Mitchell*, 286 S.C. 572, 573, 336 S.E.2d 150, 151 (1985))); *Collins*, 409 S.C. at 538, 763 S.E.2d at 29-30 (holding that when determining whether error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, appellate courts often

look to whether the "defendant's guilt has been conclusively proven . . . such that no other rational conclusion can be reached").

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, the State requests that this Court affirm Appellant's convictions for third-degree CSC with a minor, two counts of disseminating harmful material to a minor, and obstruction of justice, as well as his associated sentences.

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

BRIAN H. GIBBS
Assistant Attorney General

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